RECEIVED

01-23-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1416-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARRY DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Janet C. Protasiewicz, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MICHELLE L. VELASQUEZ State Bar No. 1079355

Civitas Law Group, Inc. 2224 W. Kilbourn Ave. Milwaukee, WI 53233 (414) 949-5266 ext. 2 E-mail michelle.velasquez@clgmke.org

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is Mr. Davis entitled to sentence credit from the date of his arrest in this case until the date he arrived at prison to begin serving a revocation sentence?

The circuit court answered no. In a written decision and order denying sentence credit, the circuit court determined that "what makes the most sense and what is most consistent with established precedent in *Beets* and *Presley*, [supra] is that the Divisions' reconfinement determination is the equivalent to the act of sentencing under Presley that severs the connection between old and new charges." (24:4; App.109).

2. Is the absolute sobriety condition of supervision reasonably related to Mr. Davis' rehabilitation and the interests of the community?

The postconviction court determined that the condition that Mr. Davis maintain absolute sobriety was appropriate because of the history of violence, and that alcohol may impair judgment and can be linked to violence. (21:4; App. 104).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication of this case is warranted as the issue presented in section I is likely to recur and a published decision from this court will resolve the issue of sentence credit. Oral argument is not necessary as the briefs can adequately address the issues presented.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state charged Mr. Davis with the following: (1) intentionally contacting a victim, witness or co-actor after court order for a felony conviction, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.39(1); (2) misdemeanor battery, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1); (3) criminal trespass to dwelling, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.14; and (4) disorderly conduct, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1). All four counts charged Mr. Davis with the domestic abuse assessment, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.055(1); as a repeater, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(a); and as a domestic abuse repeater, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b) and (2). (1:1-3).

The complaint alleged that on April 21, 2015, Mr. Davis went to the home of the victim, with whom he was ordered to have no contact. (1:4). According to the complaint, Mr. Davis forced his way into the victim's home and punched her. (1:4). The complaint further indicated that Mr. Davis was convicted of a felony in 2011 for battery to an injunction petitioner and was ordered at that time to have no contact with the victim. (1:4). The complaint also alleged that in 2008 Mr. Davis was convicted of disorderly conduct, as an act of domestic abuse. (1:4).

Mr. Davis, pursuant to a plea negotiation, pled guilty to counts (1) and (2). (30:2-3; 4:2). In exchange for his plea, the state dismissed the penalty enhancers and dismissed and read- in the remaining counts. (30:2-3; 4:2).

Mr. Davis was sentenced on August 26, 2015 by the Honorable Dennis Flynn¹. At the sentencing hearing, the court was informed that Mr. Davis was revoked from extended supervision in large part due to this case. (31:10). Counsel informed the court that Mr. Davis had remained in

custody from his arrest on April 21, 2015 through the date of sentencing, and that he was returned to the institution on his revoked case on July 31, 2015. (31:13).

During its argument, the state informed the court that the police investigating this case identified that there was a history of violence, and identified "risk factors" including that the victim had called the police in the past and that the "suspect abuses alcohol and/or drugs." (31:7).

Defense counsel informed the court that there were three allegations made by the Department of Corrections in its renovation summary: (1) that Mr. Davis had contact with the victim, (2) the incident leading to new charges, and (3) missing a scheduled appointment. (31:9). After being released from custody following revocation of probation (in Milwaukee County Case No. 11CF1196) until being revoked from extended supervision in that same case, Mr. Davis had clean drug screens and there was no indication of substance abuse. (31:12).

After hearing arguments of counsel, the court sentenced Mr. Davis to 3 years of initial confinement and 3 years of extended supervision in count one, and 9 months of jail in count two. (31:19-20). Both counts were ordered to run concurrent to one another, and concurrent to any other sentence being served. (31:19-20). The court granted 101 days of sentence credit. (31:19-20). As a condition of supervision, the court ordered that the matter be referred back to the office of child support for establishment of a support order. (31:20). It also ordered that Mr. Davis maintain absolute sobriety. (31: 25). The sentencing court, however, did not order any Alcohol or other Drug Abuse (AODA) assessment or treatment unless the agent determined it was necessary. (31:25).

¹ The Hon. Dennis Flynn was substitute judge for the Hon. Rebecca Dallet.

The court wanted to make sure it did things with respect to other orders and conditions consistent with how Judge Dallet normally did things. (31:24). With respect to eligibility for the Challenge Incarceration program, the sentencing court asked the clerk what Judge Dallet's normal practice was. (31:24). The clerk told the court that Judge Dallet usually does not make people eligible due to the nature of the crimes. (31:24.). The sentencing court then stated that Mr. Davis would "not be eligible for those two programs, consistent with the standard approach taken by Judge Dallet." (31:24).

Defense counsel asked the court for a moment to check whether the conviction in count 1 made Mr. Davis statutorily ineligible, noting that while the Substance Abuse Program would not be appropriate given the lack of AODA needs, Challenge Incarceration would be appropriate. (31:25). Counsel requested that if Mr. Davis is statutorily eligible, that the court make allow him to participate in the program. (31:26).

In response to counsel's request, the sentencing court asked the clerk whether Judge Dallet normally denies the program because of ineligibility or because of domestic violence matters. (31:26). The clerk again stated that she thought people were usually denied because of the nature of the crime and that Judge Dallet "rarely, rarely says they're eligible." (Id. 27). The court determined that it would "stick with the ruling not to be eligible for that challenge incarceration program. I think it would not be appropriate and it's also consistent with what Judge Dallet does." (31:27).

Finally, the court ordered 101 days of sentence credit in count (1) and zero days of credit in count (2). (10:3; 11:2).

On December 10, 2015, the Department of Corrections wrote to the court asking it to clarify the sentence credit in count 2. (15). It noted that the court ordered 101 days of credit in count 1 and that the counts ran concurrent to one another, but that no credit had been given on count number 2. (15). On December 16, 2015, the circuit court entered an order amending the judgment of conviction to reflect 78 days of credit on both counts instead of 101 days as originally ordered. (16; App. 110). The court reasoned that reconfinement in case number 11-CF-1196 occurred on the day that Mr. Davis' supervision was revoked (July 8, 2015), and therefore, he was only entitled to credit from the date of arrest until that date. (16; App. 110).

Mr. Davis filed a postconviction motion raising several issues.² (20). In a written decision and order dated May 4, 2016 the postconviction court granted relief on two issues, denied two of the claims raised, and held the issue of sentence credit in abeyance pending a decision from this Court in *State v. Cotton* 2015AP1625.³ (21:1-5; App. 101-105).

The postconviction court denied Mr. Davis's claim that the condition of supervision requiring him to maintain absolute sobriety was not reasonably related to his rehabilitation or to the protection of the community. (21:3-4; App. 103-104). According to the postconviction court, defense counsel's comments that Mr. Davis had been testing negative for the use of alcohol and drugs from the time he had been released onto supervision and being confined in this case "conflicts with the record in 11-CF-1196." (21:4; App. 104). The postconviction court determined that because alcohol can

² Mr. Davis was granted relief in two of the issues raised in his motion and therefore those issues will not be addressed in this appeal. The postconviction court denied Mr. Davis eligibility for the Challenge Incarceration Program. That decision is not subject of this appeal.

³ As a summary disposition order, it may not be cited in any court of this state as precedent or authority, Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3).

impair judgment and incite violence, it was in the best interest of Mr. Davis and the community for him to maintain absolute sobriety. (21:4; App. 104).

On June 23, 2016 the postconviction court issued a written decision and order denying Mr. Davis the additional 23 days of sentence credit he claimed. (24:4; 109). The postconviction court raised "several concerns" with this Court's reasoning in *Cotton*. (24:2; App. 107). The postconviction court noted that the only procedural difference post-*Presley* is that reconfinement determinations are done administratively by the Division of Hearings and Appeals rather than the circuit court, and that this should not change the timing of when the connection between the old and new charges. (24:2; App. 107).

The postconviction court also concluded that Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4) is "nothing more than a direction to the Department of Corrections to resume running an offender's sentence . . . " (24:3; App. 108). Accordingly, it reasoned, the statute should not be construed to require credit to be given up until the date the person is received at the institution. (24:3; App. 103). The postconviction court determined that while the "*Cotton* court may have agreed with the parties that 'persuasive authority and relevant statutory language' supported [the] claim for additional credit," it was not so persuaded. (24:4; App. 109).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Davis is Entitled to Sentence Credit for the Period of Time Between Revocation of His Extended Supervision and Returning to the Institution.

Mr. Davis seeks an order awarding 23 additional days of sentence credit, so that the judgment reflects 101 days credit. The sentence imposed in this case (3 confinement and 3 years extended supervision), was ordered concurrent to any other sentence. (31:19-20). While this case was pending, Mr. Davis' extended supervision in case no. 11CF1196 was revoked and he returned to prison.

Because his sentence in this case was ordered to run concurrent to any other sentence, he is entitled to credit up until the date he began serving his revocation sentence. *State v. Beets*, 124 Wis.2d 372, 369 N.W.2d 382 (1985). The issue, then, is to determine what date he began serving his revocation sentence. The answer, for the reasons argued below, is July 31, 2016, which was the date he entered the prison system.

A. Standard of review and principles of law

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.155 there are two requirements for sentence credit: 1) that a defendant be "in custody" and 2) that the custody be "in connection with the court of conduct for which the sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1). At its core, Wis. Stat. § 973.155 is "designed to afford fairness" and to ensure "that a person did not serve more than he is sentenced." *State v. Floyd*, 2000 WI 14 ¶ 23, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155 (citing *Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d at 379).

The application of Wis. Stat. 973.155 to undisputed facts is a question of law that this Court review de novo. *State*

v. Presley, 2006 WI App 82 ¶ 4, 292 Wis. 2d 743, 606 N.W.2d 713.

B. Mr. Davis began serving the sentence for his revoked case when he was received at the institution and is therefore entitled to credit for all days in custody until that date.

Both Wisconsin statutes and case law demonstrate that the connection between a revoked case and a new case is severed when the defendant arrives at the institution, not on the date that revocation occurs. Wisconsin Statute § 304.072(4) states:

The sentence of a revoked parolee or person on extended supervision resumes running on the day he or she is received at a correctional institution subject to sentence credit for the period of custody in a jail, correctional institution or any other detention facility pending revocation according to the terms of s. 973.155.

In *Presley*, the court of appeals addressed concurrent sentence credit under a previous statutory scheme in which the circuit court conducted reconfinement hearings.⁴ There, Mr. Presley's extended supervision was revoked and the circuit court held a reconfinement hearing on the same date that it imposed the sentence on the new charge. *Presley*, 292. Wis. 2d 734, ¶ 2. He then sought credit on the concurrent sentence the court imposed for the period of time between the date of his arrest and the reconfinement hearing.⁵ *Id*. 292. Wis. 2d 734, ¶ 3.

⁴ 2009 Wisconsin Act 28 eliminated reconfinement hearings.

 $^{^5}$ Mr. Presley was sentenced on the new case on the same date as the reconfinement hearing. *Presley*, 292 Wis. 2d 734, ¶ 2. Therefore the period of time between the reconfinement/sentencing hearing and his receipt at the institution was not at issue for sentence credit purposes.

This Court rejected the State's argument that the date of revocation serves as the start of the revocation case's sentence for purposes of credit. *Presley*, 292, Wis. 2d 734, ¶10. It reasoned that according the court in *Beets*, "the lynchpin to the uncoupling of the connection between the new and old charges was the act of sentencing, *not the revocation determination*." *Presley*, 292 Wis. 2d 734, ¶ 9 (emphasis added, citing 124 Wis. 2d at 379).

In further support for this conclusion, the court noted that Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4) "unambiguously states that the sentence begins once the offender is transported and received at a correctional institution, not when the revocation occurs." *Presley*, 292 Wis. 3d 734, ¶14.

As noted above, the postconviction court held Mr. Davis' motion for sentence credit in abeyance, pending a decision from the Court of Appeals in *State v. Cotton*, 2015AP1625. (21:4; App. 104). A summary reversal was issued in that case on May 24, 2016⁶. On June 23, 2016, the postconviction court issued a written decision and order denying the 23 days of sentence credit. (24:4; App. 109).

The postconviction court noted "several concerns" with this Court's reasoning in *Cotton*. (24:2; App. 107). It stated:

The court fails to perceive a material legal distinction post-*Presley* between a reconfinement determination made by the court and a reconfinement determination made by the Division, and *Cotton* does not explain why the Division's reconfinement determination carries no legal significance for purposes of determining when an offender's reconfinement term commences

(24:2-3; App. 107-108).

⁶ As a summary disposition order, it may not be cited in any court of this state as precedent or authority. Wis. Stat. §809.23(3).

The postconviction court's "concern" has been addressed, and the answer made clear by this Court as this is not a new issue. Post-Presley, reconfinement hearings in the circuit court were eliminated. See 2009 Wisconsin Act 28 §2726. **Presley** made clear the applicability of Wis. Stat. §304.072(4), noting that "the sentence begins once the offender is transported and received at a correctional institution, not when the revocation occurs." *Presley*, 292 Wis. 2d 734, ¶14. The Special Materials of the Wisconsin Jury Instructions also provides guidance. (Wis. JI-Criminal SM-34A). See State v. Gilbert, 115 Wis.2d 371, 379, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983). (SM-34A is persuasive authority for the correct interpretation of Wis. Stat. §973.155). The comments explain that after revocation of extended supervision, the sentence resumes running when the person arrives at prison. Wis. JI-Criminal SM-34A.

Similarly, when a probationer, with an imposed-and-stayed sentence, has his probation revoked, "the sentence commences when the offender arrives at the prison. The revocation date is irrelevant." Wis. JI-Criminal SM-34A, comment 37b. That approach is consistent with Wis. Stat. §973.10(2)(b), stating that "the term of the sentence shall begin on the date the probationer enters the prison."

This Court agrees with this consistent application of the statutes and the uniform guidance from the Jury Instruction Committee: "Williams's sentence imposed following the revocation of his extended supervision did not "resume" until he was received at a correctional institution." *State v. Manuel R. Williams*, 2013 WI App 30 at ¶14, 346 Wis.2d 280, 827 N.W.2d 929, unpublished. (App:111-113).

The postconviction court also noted concern with this Court's focus on Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4), and the WI JI-Criminal SM34A, stating:

Although the statute [304.072(4)] makes reference to section 973.155, Stats. the court reads section 304.072(4), Stats., as a sentence *computation* statute. The statute appears to be nothing more than a direction to the Department of Corrections to resume running an offender's sentence when he or she is received at the institution, less credit for time spent in custody pending revocation. Nothing in the language of the statute states that an offender is to be given credit towards a new sentence up to the date he or she is received at the institution, and therefore, the court is concerned that *Cotton* and the Wisconsin Jury Instruction Committee appear to have attached unwarranted significance to the language of section 304.072(4), Stats.

The postconviction court seems to discount the applicability of § 304.072(4) because it applies to sentence computation and not credit. However, the statute provides guidance for courts determining credit because it shows a clear legislative intent for when a sentence should commence. Just because Wis. Stat. §304.072(4) is not directed to a sentencing court or does not discuss credit directly does not make it irrelevant to the analysis.

However, this Court has already determined that Wis. Stat. 304.072(4) is relevant, citing it when determining that Mr. Williams' sentence did not resume until he arrived at Dodge Correctional. *State v. Williams*, 2013 WI App 30 at ¶¶13-14. (App: 113). Moreover, this Court made the relevance of Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4) glaringly clear *Presley*, noting that it "unambiguously states that the sentence begins once the offender is transported and received at a correctional institution, not when the revocation occurs." *Presley*, 292 Wis. 2d, ¶ 14.

Furthermore, the explicit reference in §304.072(4) to Wis. Stat. §973.155 is important. "Statutes relating to the same subject matter are to be construed together and

harmonized." *State v. Burkman*, 96 Wis. 2d 630, 642, 292 N.W.2d 641 (1980).

Finally, the postconviction court in this case expressed the following concern:

But when a person is received at an institution can depend on a number of factors, and therefore, to consider when a person is received at an institution as "the lynchpin to the uncoupling of the connection between the new and old charges" can lead to inconsistent results.... For example, assume that a person has been revoked on extended supervision and a reconfinement order has been entered but the person remains in a county jail on a pending charge for one more month before he is sentenced to concurrent imprisonment. Cotton supports a finding that the person is entitled to credit for that additional month towards his concurrent prison term. But if the person were sent to prison after the reconfinement order was entered and had to be produced for sentencing a month later on the new charge, he would only be entitled to credit up to the date he was received at the prison.

(24:4; App. 109).

The variables that the court points to in its order also exist if the revocation and administrative reconfinement determination were to be the cut-off date. While revocation hearings should occur within 50 calendar days after an offender's detention, the hearing can be rescheduled or adjourned for good cause. HA 2.05(4)-(4)(b)⁷ And, after a hearing, a decision should be issued within 10 days, but can be extended by 5 days. HA 2.05(7)(g) and (h). That decision can be appealed within 10 days, the other party has up to 7 days to respond, and then the administrator has up to 21 days to decide the appeal. HA 2.05(8) and (9).

 $^{^{7}}$ Wisconsin Administrative Code, Division of Hearings and Appeals

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