RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-13-2017

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1416-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

LARRY DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JANET C. PROTASIEWICZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JENNIFER R. MCNAMEE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1098838

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Davis is entitled to credit up until the date he was received at Dodge Correctional Institution to serve his revocation sentence; accordingly, he should be granted 23 additional days of credit.

Davis first argues that he is entitled to "23 additional days of sentence credit, so that the judgment reflects 101 days of sentence credit." (Davis's Br. 7.) The State agrees.

A. Davis was "in custody" and at least a portion of his custody was "in connection with" the court of conduct for which Davis was sentenced on August 21, 2015.

"A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which the sentence was imposed." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). In other words, to obtain sentence credit, the defendant must have been (a) in custody⁶ and (b) the custody must have been connected⁷ to the conduct that led to the sentence. *State v. Presley*, 2006 WI App 82, ¶ 6, 292 Wis. 2d 734, 715 N.W.2d 713.

⁶ "Custody' means a detention status for which a defendant is subject to an escape charge if he leaves the place of detention." *State v. Obriecht*, 2015 WI 66, ¶ 25, 363 Wis. 2d 816, 867 N.W.2d 387.

⁷ To qualify as time spent "in connection with" the course of conduct giving rise to that sentence, the custody must be "factually connected with the course of conduct for which the sentence was imposed." *State v. Elandis Johnson*, 2009 WI 57, ¶ 3, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207. When the necessary factual "connection" is present, presentence credit can be applied to multiple concurrent terms to which a defendant is sentenced.

If a defendant satisfies the two requirements, then "[c]redit is given for custody while awaiting trial, while being tried, and while awaiting sentencing after trial." *State v. Marcus Johnson*, 2007 WI 107, ¶ 4 n.2, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505 (citing Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a)1., 2., and 3.); *see also State v. Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d 372, 377, 369 N.W.2d 382 (1985). Whether a defendant is entitled to sentence credit under the statute is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Marcus Johnson*, 304 Wis. 2d 318, ¶ 27.

In this case, no one disputes that the time Davis spent in jail was time spent "in custody." Moreover, no one disputes that at least a portion of Davis's custody was spent "in connection with" the course of conduct for which he was ultimately sentenced on August 31, 2015.

The question here is whether there was any event that "severed" Davis's presentence custody from its "connection" to his crimes in this case. Everyone agrees that there was an event that severed the connection between Davis's pretrial custody and his crimes in this case. But the circuit court and the State and Davis disagree on which event severed the connection. The circuit court concluded that the relevant event was the day Davis's extended supervision for his old crime was revoked. The State and Davis contend that the relevant event was the day Davis was returned to Dodge Correctional. Thus, this Court must determine which of the two events actually severed Davis's presentence custody from its connection to his crimes in this case.

B. Davis's entry into Dodge Correctional on July 31, 2015, "severed" his presentence custody from its "connection" to his crimes in this case.

Two cases, State v. Beets and State v. Presley, provide insight into what types of events can sever a defendant's

presentence custody from its connection to the crimes in his case.

In *Beets*, the defendant was on probation for drug charges when he committed a burglary. *Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d at 374-75. Beets' probation on the drug charges was revoked, and he was sentenced to two concurrent three year terms. *Id.* Beets pled guilty to the burglary charge and was sentenced to a three year term, which was ordered to run concurrently to the drug sentences. *Id.* at 375. Beets claimed that he should have received additional sentence credit "for the period subsequent to his sentencing on the drug charges while he was awaiting, in prison, a hearing on the pending charge of burglary." *Id.*

The supreme court disagreed. The court recognized that there was "connection" since the "burglary charge initiated the scrutiny into Beets' background that resulted in the probation hold, the revocation, and the ultimate concurrent drug sentences." Id. at 378-79. However, the court did not award Beets any credit for the period he sought because "any connection which might have existed between the custody for the drug offense and the burglary was severed when the custody resulting from the probation hold was converted into a revocation and sentence." Id. at 379. From sentencing on the old charges forward, "Beets was in prison serving an imposed and unchallenged sentence; and whether he was also awaiting trial on the burglary charge was irrelevant" because, "[e]ven had the [new burglary] charge been dismissed, [Beets] still would have been in confinement" due to the sentence on the old charges. Id. Accordingly, the court did not award Beets any pretrial credit time for his sentence on his new crime for the period subsequent to his sentencing on the old charges. Id. at 383. Put simply, Beets instructs that "sentencing on one charge

severs the connection between the custody and the pending charges." *Id*.

In *Presley*, the defendant was on extended supervision when he committed a new crime. *Presley*, 292 Wis. 2d 734, \P 2. Presley's extended supervision was revoked, and he was ordered reconfined for five months and three days. *Id.* Presley pled guilty to the new crime and was sentenced to thirty months of initial confinement and thirty months of extended supervision. *Id.* "Sentencing on both the revoked extended supervision and the new charge occurred on the same day." *Id.* The court ordered the sentences to be served concurrently, and it "gave Presley sentence credit on the new charge for the time he spent in custody from the date he was arrested to the date his supervision was revoked." *Id.* Presley argued that he was entitled to credit from the date of his arrest to the date he was sentenced on both the new and old charges. *Id.* \P 3.

This Court agreed with Presley. Id. ¶ 1. Interpreting Beets, the court reasoned that "the lynchpin to the uncoupling of the connection between the new and old charges was the act of sentencing, not the revocation determination." Id. \P 9. The court concluded that the reconfinement hearing the circuit court held on the old. revoked charges qualified as a "form of sentencing." *Id.* ¶ 10. Because the reconfinement hearing constituted "sentencing," it "sever[ed] the connection between the charges." Id. The court was careful to note that while a reconfinement hearing could sever the connection between the charges, a revocation could not. Id. ("Thus, reconfinement hearing is a 'sentencing,' and under *Beets*, it, not the revocation, severs the connection between the charges." (emphasis added)). Applying that reasoning, the court concluded that Presley was "entitled to sentence credit on the new charge from the date of his arrest until the day of sentencing on both charges because while his extended supervision was revoked, his 'resentencing' had not yet occurred." *Id.* ¶ 15.

At the time Presley was decided, the circuit courts were responsible for conducting reconfinement hearings once a defendant's supervision was revoked.⁸ See Wis. Stat. § 302.113(9)(am) (2007–08). After *Presley*, the Legislature eliminated reconfinement hearings in the circuit court. 9 See Wis. Stat. § 302.113(9)(am) (2009–10). That change led to the the following question: given elimination of reconfinement hearings, can the revocation decision itself qualify as the "act of sentencing" that severs a defendant's presentence custody from its connection to the crimes in the new case? In this case, the circuit court answered that

8 Wisconsin Stat. § 302.113(9)(am) (2007–08) provided as follows:

If the extended supervision of the person is revoked, the person shall be returned to the circuit court for the county in which the person was convicted of the offense for which he or she was on extended supervision, and the court shall order the person to be returned to prison for any specified period of time that does not exceed the amount of time remaining on the bifurcated sentence.

⁹ Wis. Stat. § 302.113(9)(am) (2009–10) states the following:

If the extended supervision of the person is revoked, the reviewing authority shall order the person to be returned to prison for any specific period of time that does not exceed the time remaining on the bifurcated sentence.

See also 2009 Wis. Act 28, § 2726.

question with a "yes." The State, however, has consistently answered that question with a "no."

Since that question has arisen, the State has asserted the following rule, which it believes reflects the proper approach: when an offender is revoked from supervision for committing a new crime and there is no reconfinement hearing on the revocation, and the offender is sentenced to concurrent terms on both the revocation sentence and the sentence for the new crime, the offender is entitled to sentence credit for custody served from the date of arrest to either the date of sentencing on the new crime or the date of transfer to prison, whichever occurs first.¹¹

The State finds support for that rule in *Presley* and Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4). In *Presley*, the State advanced a position essentially identical to the one that the circuit court adopted here: that Presley was only entitled to credit up to the date of his revocation because he began serving his revocation sentence on that date. *Presley*, 292 Wis. 2d 734, ¶ 10.

¹⁰ The circuit court wrote that it "fail[ed] to perceive a material legal distinction post-Presley between a reconfinement determination made by the court and a reconfinement determination made by the Division," and that "Cotton d[id] not explain why the Division's reconfinement determination carrie[d] no legal significance for purposes of determining when a person's reconfinement term resume[d] running when extended supervision ha[d] been revoked." (24:2-3.)

¹¹ The State has consistently taken this position in other recent cases, including *Cotton*, No. 2015AP1625-CR; *State v. Williams*, No. 2012AP357-CR (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2013) (unpublished); *State v. Huff*, No. 2011AP2268-CR (Wis. Ct. App. July 31, 2012) (unpublished); and *State v. Jackson*, No. 2013AP27-CR (Wis. Ct. App. Oct. 29, 2013) (unpublished).

The *Presley* court outright rejected the State's position, in part based on Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4). *Id.* ¶ 14. As that court explained, Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4) provided that "[t]he sentence of a revoked parolee or person on extended supervision resumes running on the day he or she is received at a correctional institution" *Id.* ¶ 14. Given that language, the *Presley* court observed,

If the State's position were to be adopted—that Presley was serving a sentence once the extended supervision was revoked—it would appear to conflict with § 304.072(4), which unambiguously states that the sentence begins once the offender is transported and received at a correctional institution, not when the revocation occurs.

Id. ¶ 14. The same is true here: to hold that the revocation date functions as an act of sentencing severing the connection between the old and new crimes would appear to conflict with Wis. Stat. $\S 304.072(4)$.

Furthermore, the Special Materials of the Wisconsin Jury Instructions devoted to sentence credit (Wis. JI-Criminal SM-34A) support that conclusion. See State v. Gilbert, 115 Wis. 2d 371, 379, 340 N.W.2d 511 (1983) (stating that SM-34A is persuasive authority for the correct interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 973.155). The comments to SM-34A provide that revocation sentences commence when the offender arrives at prison and that the "revocation date is irrelevant" for determining sentence credit. Compare Wis. JI-Criminal SM-34A comment 37b (April 2014) (stating that "[f]ollowing revocation of probation in the imposed-andstayed-sentence-probation-imposed the case, sentence commences when the offender arrives at the prison. The revocation date is irrelevant.") and id. at comment 37c ("Sentences of revoked parolees or persons on extended supervision resume running on the date the person is received at the correctional institution") with id. at comment

37a (explaining that where a sentence is originally withheld and probation imposed, the sentence "commence[s] on the date of imposition").

Wis. Here. the discounted Stat. circuit court § 304.072(4) as inapplicable because it applies to sentence computation, not sentence credit. (24:3.) Nonetheless, statutes indicating a clear legislative intent for when provide guidance sentences commence determining sentence credit under Wis. Stat. § 973.155. The fact that Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4) is not directed to a court or does not discuss credit directly does not make it inapplicable. To the contrary, Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4) is germane to the analysis: it's plain text demonstrates legislative intent that revocation sentences begin with an offender's transfer to prison, in the same way that an offender's sentence for any other crime begins on the day on which the court imposes sentence. As this Court explained in *Presley*, the circuit court's approach here would conflict with the legislative intent provided in Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4).

Consistent with Wis. Stat. § 304.072(4), *Presley* and *Beets*, Davis was entitled to credit on his revocation sentence for the days he spent in custody until he was received at Dodge Correctional on July 31, 2015. Consequently, the State concedes that Davis is entitled to 23 days of additional sentence credit, from April 21, 2015, through July 31, 2015.

II. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in ordering Davis to maintain absolute sobriety as a condition of supervision.

Davis next claims that the circuit court "erroneously exercised its discretion when it ordered that Mr. Davis maintain absolute sobriety while on extended supervision" since there was "no indication that Mr. Davis abuses alcohol" or "that alcohol was related to the offense in this case."

(Davis's Br. 14.) Davis is wrong. The circuit court's decision to order that Davis refrain from consuming alcohol was reasonable and appropriate.

"Trial courts granted broad are discretion determining conditions necessary for extended supervision; such discretion is subject only to a standard reasonableness and appropriateness." State v. Brad Miller, 2005 WI App 114, ¶ 11, 283 Wis. 2d 465, 701 N.W.2d 47. "Whether a condition of extended supervision is reasonable and appropriate is determined by how well it serves the dual goals of supervision: rehabilitation of the defendant and the protection of a state or community interest." Id. This Court reviews the imposition of conditions for an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. Stewart, 2006 WI App 67, ¶ 11, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165.

"A condition of supervision need not directly relate to the offense for which the defendant is convicted as long as the condition is reasonably related to the dual purposes of extended supervision." Brad Miller, 283 Wis. 2d 465, ¶ 13. For example, in State v. Eugene Miller, 175 Wis. 2d 204, 207, 499 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1993), the defendant had been previously convicted of making harassing telephone calls to women; his current case involved a burglary and theft. When imposing sentence for the burglary and theft, the court ordered, as a condition of probation, that the defendant refrain from calling any women without the permission of his probation officer. Id. at 207–08. This Court "recognized" that while the defendant's past criminal conduct of making sexually explicit telephone calls to women was unrelated to the offense for which he was convicted, the defendant needed to be rehabilitated from that conduct." Brad Miller, 283 Wis. 2d 465, ¶ 12 (citing Eugene Miller, 175 Wis. 2d at 209-10). "Because the condition was rationally related to the defendant's need for rehabilitation, it was 'reasonable and

appropriate' as required by the probation statute." Brad Miller, 283 Wis. 2d 465, ¶ 12 (citing Eugene Miller, 175 Wis. 2d at 210).

Additionally, a condition of supervision that forces a defendant to "live more responsibly," is "clearly relevant to rehabilitation" and serves the public interest by making a defendant less likely to commit crimes. *See Brad Miller*, 283 Wis. 2d 465, ¶¶ 14-15; *see also State v. Rowan*, 2012 WI 60, ¶ 10, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854 ("It is also appropriate for circuit courts to consider an end result of encouraging lawful conduct, and thus increased protection of the public, when determining what individualized probation conditions are appropriate for a particular person.").

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